Goethe-University Frankfurt Faculty of Social Sciences Bachelor thesis, B.A. Political Science

Veganism by law

From individual ethics to policy

Author: Niklas Schickling Supervisor: [Redacted] Second examiner: [Redacted] Submission date: 12.06.2024 "Let's change the way we eat. Let's change the way we live. And let's change the way we treat each other" - Shakur (1998).

Contents

1 Introduction
2 Empirical claims
2.1 Animal agriculture and climate change2
2.1.1 Emissions of animal agriculture2
2.1.2 Impacts of GHG emissions on present and future generations
2.2 Evidence of harm towards animals in industrialized agriculture
3 Moral claims
3.1 Preference utilitarian approach8
3.1.1 Interests of present and future generations10
3.1.2 Interests of animals11
3.1.3 Interests of consumers13
3.1.4 Interests of farmers14
3.1.5 Analysis 15
3.2 Kantian approach
3.2.1 Duties towards present and future generations
3.2.2 Animal ethics
4 From individual ethics to policy 24
4.1 Preference utilitarian political philosophy 24
4.2 Kantian political philosophy25
4.2.1 Separation thesis
4.2.2 Dependence thesis 27
4.3 Policy implications
4.3.1 Just transition towards sustainable agriculture
4.3.2 Animals rights
5 Conclusion
Publication bibliography
Declaration of the examination performance

1 Introduction

Animal agriculture is responsible for at least 16.5% of global yearly CO₂e (carbon dioxide equivalent) emissions (Twine 2021: 3) and thus partially causal for the corresponding climate change, and its disastrous consequences for millions (Romanello et al. 2023: 1-2). At the same time, animal agriculture restricts and damages the bodily autonomy of animals regularly (Hampton et al. 2021: 28) which could be unethical depending on the underlying ethical theory. The policy option of veganism by law is, nevertheless, rarely considered. The definitions of veganism range from an individual ethic of the abstention from consuming animal products to a political philosophy calling for the abolition of animal agriculture could be the policy solution to the aforementioned issues concerning the rights of present and future generations affected by climate change and the rights of animals, I explore arguments for and against the implementation of veganism by law.

Although a veganized agriculture would provide 52% of the required emission reductions for the 2°C target of the Paris climate accord (Eisen and Brown 2022: 6), and could allow for greater animal welfare, current policies of many governments promote the opposite. For example, 82% of the subsidies of the European Union's Common Agricultural Policy are routed towards the production of animal products and animal feed (Kortleve et al. 2024: 1-2). Moreover, for American adults the U.S. Department of Agriculture and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2020: 96) promotes the consumption of 720ml of cow milk or other dairy per day and recommends a protein intake through meat and eggs between 652 g and 936 g per week.

In this bachelor thesis I outline the current state of animal agriculture, its emissions and the associated harm towards animals and humans. The empirical findings are dissected ethically with a consequentialist approach and a deontological approach. The ethical analysis concerning the decisions of individuals is then converted into a political philosophy regarding the duties of states towards present and future generations and animals including corresponding policy implications.

The normative argument is mainly based on the example of industrialized animal agriculture, the area where most of the interaction between animals and humans occurs. Nevertheless, other sectors where animals are used for human consumption or entertainment are discussed in less detail, in order to analyze the arguments for veganism by law.

In short, using the recommended political argument structure of Abel et al. (2021: 6) the following hypothesis acts as the basis for the political and philosophical discussion and is revised where necessary:

Moral claims: The state should protect present and future generations and animal rights.

Empirical claims: Animal agriculture is a major contributor to climate change and its corresponding effects and violates the wellbeing of animals regularly.

Conclusion: The state should enforce veganism by law.

2 Empirical claims

The first part of this bachelor thesis outlines the consequences of industrialized animal agriculture namely large CO₂e emissions, climate change and the suffering of animals.

2.1 Animal agriculture and climate change

2.1.1 Emissions of animal agriculture

Even in an optimistic scenario, where fossil fuel combustion in electricity production, transportation and industry is reduced to a minimum and carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies are used to reduce global emissions even further, Clark et al. (2020: 705) show that the Paris accord's 1.5° C and 2° C targets are in danger solely due to agricultural emissions which amount to one third of global CO₂e emissions. These emissions are produced by several sources: Land use including deforestation emits CO₂ and N₂O (nitrous oxide). Fertilizer production is responsible for CO₂, N₂O and CH₄ (methane) emissions while the digestive processes of "ruminants" (cows, sheep and goats) and rice paddies also emit CH₄. In addition, animal dung causes N₂O and CH₄ emissions. Several processes in the food system also rely on the burning of fossil fuels causing CO₂ emissions (Clark et al. 2020: 705).

According to Clark et al. (2020: 705), global agriculture will emit 1356 Gt CO₂e between the year 2020 and 2100 if its current practices do not change. Even if all other CO₂e emitting sectors of the global economy were hypothetically decarbonized in 2020 food related emissions alone would exceed the limits of the 1.5°C goal of the Paris climate agreement in 2063 at the latest. Even the 2°C goal would be in danger if agricultural practices remain the same as in order to keep a chance of staying below the corresponding 2°C carbon budget, all other sectors would have a remaining budget of under 50 Gt CO₂e, around one year of current emissions. Clearly the agricultural sector will play a significant part in the fight for climate justice and will have to reduce its emissions considerably (Clark et al. 2020: 705). Likely even more heavily than the paper of Clark et al. (2020) suggests as Lamboll et al. (2023: 1360) postulate that the "remaining carbon budget (RCB)" is lower than in longstanding estimates.

Clark et al. (2020: 705-706) plot different scenarios from 2020 until 2100 in order to understand the changes in the food system that are necessary for reaching the 1.5°C or

2°C goals with a high likelihood. For example, a plant rich diet, meaning not a vegan diet but a mainly plant-based one, that is gradually adopted with full adoption in 2050, will reduce emissions to a cumulative 708 Gt CO₂e by 2100. Accordingly, a plant rich diet alone is sufficient for keeping a high likelihood for reaching the 2°C goal, but not enough for the 1.5°C goal as the carbon budget for a 67% chance for 1.5°C is 500 Gt of CO₂e and 1405 Gt CO₂e for a 67% chance for 2°C. In order to reach the 1.5°C goal with a likelihood of 67% several other measures would have to be implemented. The authors suggest that the optimization of yields, waste and efficiency in combination with a plant rich diet would be enough for reaching the 1.5°C goal. In the most optimal scenario, where a plant rich diet and the optimization measures were to be fully adopted by 2050, the global food system would even be net negative in CO₂e emissions as the recovered land would allow for increased carbon sinks (Clark et al. 2020: 705-706).

Indeed, land use is the key for understanding why a vegan diet is powerful in eliminating CO₂e emissions on a large scale. The land that is used for animal agriculture could be used for carbon removal from the atmosphere through the "restoration of native ecosystems". Animals use up more calories of food than they produce, meaning that in a vegan agriculture less land is needed for the provision of the same amount of calories. At the same time a lot of the pastures that are currently reserved for cows and other ruminants could be restored to grasslands and forests. A comparison between the carbon emissions of the current dietary trajectory, versus the emissions of a diet with 70% less meat and a fully vegan diet, reveals that from 2015 until 2050 the current trajectory would produce 86 Gt of CO₂ through land use alone as the world population and demand for animal products increases. The diet with 70% less meat would result in the removal of 332 Gt of CO_2 from the atmosphere through restoration. A global vegan diet would even remove an amount of 547 Gt of CO₂ until 2050. This carbon sequestration would increase the likelihood for reaching the 1.5°C target significantly as the reduced land use and the corresponding negative emissions would allow for more time for other sectors to decarbonize (Hayek et al. 2021: 21-22).

Consequently, Eisen and Brown (2022) take a closer look on the potential emissions reductions and their consequences if animal agriculture were to be eliminated. Their study underscores the findings of the aforementioned articles that have expressed that the decarbonization of the energy and transport sector, combined with a reduction of emissions of the food system through optimization, will not be enough to avert the coming climate catastrophe (Eisen and Brown 2022: 2). A third of the historic emissions of animal agriculture are due to land use change. Other works beforehand did not accurately consider the potential of the land use emissions reductions due to a plant-based transformation. The authors combine the potential of land use emissions reductions with the current greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions of animal agriculture which are estimated to be 14.5% of yearly global CO₂e atmospheric release (Eisen and Brown 2022: 1-2). This is likely an undercount as Twine (2021: 3) calculates an updated minimum of 16.5% of global GHG emissions at 8.1 Gt CO₂e/year. Nevertheless, a complete elimination of animal agriculture would at least result in the carbon sequestration of around 1350 Gt of CO₂ until 2100. Another more quickly felt effect would be a major reduction of methane (120 Mt/year) and nitrous oxide (7 Mt/year) emissions as these GHGs have a shorter half-life than CO₂ (Eisen and Brown 2022: 2-3).

The authors compare three scenarios from 2020 to 2100: current emission trajectory, versus instant veganization of agriculture, versus a 15-year transitional period towards a completely plant-based agriculture. In their model all other sectors continue to emit their current levels of CO₂e and all land gained due to a more efficient vegan diet is allowed to be restored to native ecosystems. The model does not include the prognosis that the demand for animal products might rise in the future (Eisen and Brown 2022: 3-4). Eisen and Brown's (2022: 4) findings show that even with a 15-year transitional period the advance of global warming would halt between 2030 and 2060, permitting a window where other sectors could decarbonize. In total 1680 Gt of CO₂e would be saved in comparison to the business-as-usual scenario. The projected decrease in GHG emissions would account for 52% of necessary reductions for the 2°C target and 42% of the 1.5°C target. In the other scenario, in which an instant vegan society is plotted, these effects are raised by 14% (Eisen and Brown 2022: 4-8).

The largest part of the total figure stems from the elimination of beef meat and cow milk whose reductions amount to around 1300 Gt of CO₂e. The additional 380 Gt CO₂e could be garnered by a transformation to a completely plant-based diet. This opens up the possibility that a vegan diet might not be necessary looking from a climate viewpoint alone. Elimination of beef meat and cow milk could be sufficient (Eisen and Brown 2022: 7). In light of their findings, Eisen and Brown (2022: 12-13) advocate for the transformation towards a plant-based agriculture, although they do see a lot of sizable social and economic problems that would be associated with the transition. These issues will be part of later chapters in my debate.

The analysis of Eisen and Brown (2022: 12) only includes land-based animal agriculture and while water-based animal agriculture is smaller, it is not negligible as in 2017 aquacultures emitted 263 Mt of CO₂e or around 0.49% of all global GHG emissions mainly due to feed production, logistics and fish cultivation (MacLeod et al. 2020: 1). Additionally fishing fleets emitted a total of 179 Mt of CO₂e in 2011. Emissions of marine fisheries are mainly attributed to the fossil fuel use of ships (Parker et al. 2018: 333).

2.1.2 Impacts of GHG emissions on present and future generations

According to several estimates, the GHG emissions of animal agriculture endanger the possibility of reaching the 1.5°C or 2°C goals of the Paris climate accord (Clark et al. 2020: 705; Hayek et al. 2021: 21-22; Eisen and Brown 2022: 2) which could have catastrophic consequences that I outline exemplarily in the next paragraphs.

The social cost of carbon dioxide (SC-CO₂) is an important indicator in policy making. It expresses the amount of damage that one ton of CO₂ will cause to the global economy. These damages include increased mortality due to higher temperatures, damages to the agricultural sector and damages due to sea level rise, as well as increased energy costs for the cooling of homes and businesses (Rennert et al. 2022: 687-691). Rennert et al. (2022: 690-691) admit that several other factors, like possible future conflicts and migration, are not included. Other damages to sectors that are difficult to quantify, like cultural losses, are also not incorporated. The SC-CO₂ has long been undervalued at 51 US\$ per ton but is updated with recent data and models by the scientists. They show that the metric has a mean of 185 US\$ (Rennert et al. 2022: 689-691). Combining the findings of Eisen and Brown (2022: 4-6) and Rennert et al. (2022: 689) this means that the emissions of animal agriculture will cause estimated economic damages of 310.8 trillion US\$ until 2100.

Another damning indicator is the mortality cost of carbon (MCC) which shows that for the emission of every 4434 tons of CO₂e a temperature related excess death will occur between 2020 and 2100. Applied to animal agriculture emissions of 8.1 Gt CO₂e/year this means that the industry is the cause of 1.8 million excess deaths per year (Twine 2021: 3; Bressler 2021: 2). Although this number will go down by half if the international community manages to change its current emissions trajectory towards a 2.4°C global warming (Bressler 2021: 4).

Climate change at the present level of 1.14°C warming is already negatively impacting people all over the world as the land area that is disturbed by droughts has increased from 18% of all land in the 1950s to 47% between 2013 and 2022, according to Romanello et al. (2023: 1-2). Heatwave related food insecurity is affecting 127 million more people in contrast to the timespan of 1981 until 2010, and infectious diseases are also spreading more heavily under climate change. The aforementioned economic damages combined with temperature related health issues are threatening to overwhelm the health care systems, especially in regions with a low or medium Human Development Index (HDI). These data points will look even worse in the future as even with a 2°C temperature rise "heat-related deaths" will rise by 370%, and 525 million more people will lose access to secure food provisioning between 2041 and 2060. The spread of dengue fever will inflate by 36-37% in 2050. The authors add that their projections are cautious as tipping points could

increase the health risks considerably. Another risk for many people are the rising sea levels which may cause the displacement of 153.8 million people who reside in areas less than one meter above the sea level (Romanello et al. 2023: 1-2, 22).

As an example, I want to focus on one of the climate tipping points: The Atlantic meridional overturning circulation (AMOC), of which the gulf stream is a part of, is weakened due to freshwater induction, for example, from ice sheet melting (van Westen et al. 2024: 1). The AMOC is currently on its way to tipping van Westen et al. (2024: 7) model in their analysis of an "early warning" AMOC tipping indicator. Staying on the current emissions path would lead to the collapse of the AMOC between 2025 and 2095, with a mean estimate of the tipping time of the AMOC in 2050. Greenhouse gas emissions need to be heavily reduced in order to prevent the weakening of AMOC which would collapse due to added freshwater input into the North Atlantic system which is caused by temperature increases (Ditlevsen and Ditlevsen 2023: 1-2, 6-8).

Ritchie et al. (2020: 76) plot the impacts of a sudden AMOC collapse on the agriculture of Great Britain. A cessation of the circulation would cool down Great Britain by 3.4°C while at the same time provide less rain. The area of Great Britain that is suitable for agriculture would decrease from 32% to 7% due to the drying effect. Consequently, this results in less agricultural production and economic damages of 346 million pounds per year at current prices which would likely go up after an AMOC collapse (Ritchie et al. 2020: 76-79).

The climate catastrophe is affecting mental health as well. Suicide rates correlate with temperature as 1% more suicides arise per 1°C above usual temperatures. Hospital admittances linked to mental health problems rise during heatwaves. At the same time occurrences of "post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, anxiety, extreme psychological stress and distress, substance use and suicidality" increase as a consequence of extreme weather and climate events like flooding, storms and wildfires and their aftermath (Lawrance et al. 2022: 451-454).

A lot more empirical evidence could be supplied, but the picture is clear: Animal agriculture is a major emitter of GHGs and in turn endangers the livelihood of present and future generations.

2.2 Evidence of harm towards animals in industrialized agriculture

Once again, it is impossible to provide an exhaustive list of all harm that is done to animals in industrialized animal agriculture as all parts of it negatively impact the welfare of animals (Hampton et al. 2021: 28). Several examples are provided as the basis for the following ethical discussion. Pregnant pigs are confined to small stalls with an area of 1.26 m² which results in increased leg and feet injuries, abrasions and a worse immune system in comparison with pregnant pigs with more space of 2.3 m² (Karlen et al. 2007: 89, 98-99). Egg producing chickens have a need for scratching the floor (foraging) but cannot adequately do so when they are kept in small cages (Weeks and Nicol 2006: 302). In order to boost milk production cows and their calves are removed from each other on day one after birth which results in them calling for each other and in decreased social adaptability of the calf (Flower and Weary 2001: 276, 281-283). The removal of horns of cattle through disbudding or dehorning is a regular livestock management method. Cattle without horns produce less injuries and need less space. Disbudding and dehorning are very painful as the cattle's behavior afterwards shows. Cortisol levels which are associated with stress are also elevated during and after the procedures while anesthesia lowers the intensity of these effects (Stafford and Mellor 2011: 226-229).

The transportation of animals to markets and slaughterhouses poses welfare challenges. Animals like cows and sheep show nervous behavior and high cortisol levels during loading into vehicles. Health concerns arise during the transports which take one to two days as the animals are not given food or water during their journey and usually stand for the whole time. Hypothermia and heat stress are also issues in animal transportation as well as contusions due to crowding (Fisher et al. 2009: 158-161). During transportation of animals via ships or planes, they are subjected to similar conditions and increased mortality rates (Phillips and Santurtun 2013: 313; Collins et al. 2020: 198).

In 2021 roughly 73.7 billion chickens, 1.4 billion pigs and 329 million cows and many other animals were slaughtered (Roser 2023: 1). Animals that are slaughtered without being unconscious, for example for halal meat, are cut at the carotid arteries. Due to so called false aneurysms which cause a halt in blood flow from the arteries the process of dying is oftentimes prolonged. Before their slaughter most animals are stunned with an electrical current which is painful and at the same not always successful. Rendering animals unconscious with a captive bolt is not always successful as well. Captive bolts work by inflicting brain damage through a large percussive force to the forehead and had a failure rate in 2003 of 1.4% (Gregory 2008: 3-7).

Fish have pain receptors and have a nervous system that is capable of reacting to pain although it is unclear how close their ability is to the ability of a mammal feeling pain. Farmed aquaculture fish are negatively affected in a variety of ways. Through (in-)breeding aquaculture fish have acquired genetic defects that result in less stress resistance and higher death rates. Due to their confinement in aquaculture the fish suffer from overcrowding and subsequently from "diseases, aggressive behavior causing injuries or food deprivation, poor water quality" which in turn cause higher stress and death rates. The butchering of the fish usually starts with a method of ensuring unconsciousness. Many of these methods are very stressful and painful and include among others suffocation, electrocution and hitting the fish (Bergqvist and Gunnarsson 2013: 77-79, 84-87).

As shown, animals are regularly subjected to harmful behavior during their upbringing, transport and slaughter. The two empirical claims seem to stand according to the available literature.

3 Moral claims

After having presented the issues connected with industrialized agriculture, the moral part of the question has to be answered. Two applied ethics approaches, namely a consequentialist approach by Singer (2011) and a deontological approach by Kant (1911), are the basis for the answer whether one owes any consideration towards the people of future generations who are harmed due to the GHG emissions of animal agriculture and towards animals who are harmed directly through the production methods of animal agriculture.

Consequentialism and deontology are the most exclusively accepted normative ethical theories among scientists in normative ethics and applied ethics. Virtue ethics come in third and represent another interesting research avenue (Bourget and Chalmers 2020: 1). I chose the ethical theories of preference utilitarianism by Singer (2011) and the deonto-logical ethical theory by Kant (1911) because they represent two epochs with differing views on animal ethics allowing for a comprehensive political and ethical comparison, resulting in a nuanced analysis with corresponding diverse policy implications. Nevertheless, other consequentialists and deontologists should be looked at in works of larger scope in order to find a more universal answer.

3.1 Preference utilitarian approach

The ethical theory of Singer (2011: 2-3) is based on consequentialism, the notion that the morality of actions should be judged through their consequences. His ethics belong to a subcategory of consequentialism namely utilitarianism which considers an action to be ethical if it generates more happiness than any other alternative action. Happiness in this case is "net happiness" meaning the happiness that is generated through an action minus the pain or suffering that is caused by it. The author rejects ethical theories that are based on rules, on religion, on naturality or any other subjective or relativist principles meaning that his ethics are not dependent on the time or the society one lives in (Singer 2011: 2-8). Consequently Singer (2011: 8-9) says that the basis for his theory is rational thought and not one's own subjective needs or judgements. Thus, he is proposing a "universal" theory of ethics, a theory that is independent of the actor that wants to make an ethical decision. His theory is supposed to be capable of being applied similarly by any potential judge (Singer 2011: 10-11).

From this condition of universality, the author derives that a utilitarian theory satisfies the condition because the interests of those affected by an action are valued similarly through the net happiness account. One's own needs and preferences are worth the same as any other person's preferences. This focus on preferences is called preference utilitarianism which differs from classical utilitarianism. Classical utilitarianism employs pleasure as the measure for ethical consequences while preference utilitarianism looks at whether the preferences of those that are affected by an action are promoted (Singer 2011: 11-13). The example of a person that is collecting food for their tribe is provided by Singer (2011: 12). The person encounters a tree rich in fruits, but the person has no ethical knowledge or guidelines on how to proceed. In this case one's own preferences could be at the forefront, and eating as much fruit as possible before sharing the fruits with one's peers could be the sensible course of action. But if one wants to reflect on the situation ethically, the person has to take into account the preferences of his peers. They are likely as hungry as oneself, and their preferences should not be less worthy of consideration from a universal standpoint (Singer 2011: 12).

In order to reflect on the interests of people that are affected by an action equally without looking at arbitrary characteristics like origin, intelligence, sex, gender or race, Singer (2011: 20) proposes the "principle of equal consideration of interests". The principle mandates that an "equal weight" is awarded to the interests of all those that are affected by an action. If an action violates the interests of one person more than the interests of another the action is unethical and should not be pursued. The explanatory example that is provided looks at pain relief. Two persons are in pain. The one that is in more pain has a higher interest in being relieved of its pain. One should not incorporate other factors into the decision, for example, how close one is to one of the persons or how esteemed their job may be. Thus, the weighing of the interests is supposed to be unprejudiced. A large interest or several light interests combined outweigh even smaller interests without looking at the persons involved (Singer 2011: 20-21).

The only characteristic that is necessary, is being capable of having interests. This does not mean that one has to award everyone the same treatment. As interests vary widely, it is important to take all of them into account and weigh them impartially which can lead to unequal treatment. Unequal treatment is ethical if all interests are considered (Singer 2011: 21). The following example by Singer (2011: 22) underscores his argument: Two people are hurt after an earthquake. One has a severe injury resulting in significant pain while another is lightly injured with small pain. A third person has two opiate pain relievers. On the one hand, equal treatment would command that both of the injured receive one pain reliever. The principle of equal consideration of interests on the other hand would demand a weighing of interests of the third person. As the severely injured person has a much higher interest in pain relief than the lightly injured one it is ethically necessary to give both pain relievers to the severely injured person (Singer 2011: 22).

The following paragraphs outline a preference utilitarian view on whether it is ethically permissible to consume animal products. As the principle of equal consideration of interests is foundational to preference utilitarianism (Singer 2011: 20) I present the interests of all parties that are affected by the consumption of animal products. This includes the interests of present and future generations, the interests of animals and the interests of consumers and farmers of animal products. The subsequent analysis weighs those interests against each other according to preference utilitarianism.

3.1.1 Interests of present and future generations

The fundamental human interests encompass preventing painful experiences, secure food and housing access, forming relationships with other persons and the ability to "pursue one's projects without interference". Additionally, humans have an interest in living and not being killed because of their capability to plan ahead and thus have preferences for their future. Indeed, being killed disregards "the most central and significant preferences a being can have", according to Singer (2011: 28, 80).

Consequently, humans of present and future generations have an interest in lower CO₂e emissions. As presented in part "2.1 Animal agriculture and climate change", animal agriculture is a major carbon emitter (Twine 2021: 3) and therefore responsible for the impacts of its greenhouse gas emissions. Those impacts violate the interests of present and future generations through among others heat deaths, economic damages, droughts and diseases (Rennert et al. 2022: 687-688; Bressler 2021: 2; Romanello et al. 2023: 1-2).

However, there remains the issue of the non-identity problem. Parfit (1984: 378) brings forth that as a result of our actions and policies different future people will exist in comparison to a world where we continue as is. As such, we cannot take the interests of future people into account because we do not know whose interests to represent (Parfit 1984: 378). There are several responses to the non-identity problem with differing degrees of the necessity to consider future people's interests (Abel et al. 2021: 194-195). Whether one recognizes the interests of future generations is not sufficiently relevant to my argument as the interests of presently living individuals are already violated by the impacts of climate change and will continue to be violated in the future (Bell 2011: 104). This means that the interests of present generations and thus indirectly the one's of future generations need to be acknowledged regardless of one's answer to the non-identity problem.

3.1.2 Interests of animals

According to Singer (2011: 48) the principle of equal consideration of interests should not only be applied to human beings but also to most animals. Although animals are commonly not included in our ethical considerations, he argues that the interests of animals need to be considered similarly to ours. This illation is directly derived from the principle of equal consideration of interests. If a person does not include the interests of animals in not feeling pain into their ethical analysis, the person is a speciesist analogously to, for example, racists or sexists who downplay the importance of interests of certain subsets of people due to unreasonable attributes. Any being that has the ability to feel pain or pleasure needs to be incorporated into the equal consideration as it is the basic requirement for having interests. Because many animals have the ability to feel pain it is necessary to include them in ethical arguments (Singer 2011: 49-51).

The ability to feel and anticipate suffering differs between species which makes it necessary to carefully consider the interests of different species. Singer (2011: 51-52) provides the example of a human suffering from cancer and a laboratory mouse. The human due to its capacity to reflect on the coming pain and death might suffer more than the mouse. A wild animal that is captured for tagging might suffer more than a person that is arrested because the animal cannot understand that its fate is only temporary. These differences in capacities must be included into the equal consideration of interests. However, these differing capacities do not allow for the negation of the interests of "nonhuman animals" (Singer 2011: 51-52).

As discussed in chapter "2.2 Evidence of harm towards animals in industrialized agriculture", animals are regularly subjected to painful experiences through for example inadequate space, dehorning and during transport and slaughter. Evidence of pain responses can be found through cortisol levels and anesthesia application especially in vertebrates (Karlen et al. 2021: 98-99; Stafford and Mellor 2011: 226-229; Fisher et al. 2009: 158-159; Phillips and Santurtun 2013: 313; Collins et al. 2020: 198; Gregory 2008: 6-7; Barr et al. 2008: 745). These practices violate the interest of animals in wanting to avoid pain.

The principle of equal consideration of interests cannot be extended to beings that are not capable of having interests. If some animals do not feel pain, they do not need to be considered ethically (Singer 2011: 50). As shown beforehand, fish experience pain (Bergqvist and Gunnarsson 2013: 77-78). In experiments decapod crustaceans react to painful stimuli and anesthetics. It is likely that crustaceans are able to experience pain (Barr et al. 2008: 747-750). After painful stimuli hermit crabs display behavior that was not only reflex behavior. The crabs were able to make decisions including "trade-offs" between different stimuli (Elwood and Appel 2009: 1245). Gibbons et al. (2022: 158-159) use eight benchmarks of pain responses in order to test whether insects are able to

experience pain. "Strong evidence" for the capacity to suffer from pain is found regarding flies and mosquitoes, as well as "substantial evidence" regarding bees, wasps and ants (Gibbons et al. 2022: 209). This evidence shows that the animals that may ethically disregarded because they lack the capability to experience pain are very few and certainly none that are commonly consumed in today's agriculture (Singer 2011: 59-60).

The interests of animals could be violated less severely in areas with more humane treatment. Regarding, for example, organic agriculture Singer (2011: 55) nevertheless argues that organic agriculture incorporates practices that are very harmful to animals, for example, the separation of cows and their calves (Flower and Weary 2001: 276), as well as the killing of animals which could be unethical as I will discuss later.

The interests of animals need to be considered in other sectors as well. An estimated 192 million animals were supplied worldwide for animal experimentation in 2015 (Taylor and Alvarez 2019: 210). In 2020 in the European Union animals were subjected to 8 million treatments for scientific purposes. Of those treatments 4% were classified as "non-recovery" (anesthetized and killed), 10% as "severe" (intense or continuous "pain, suffering or distress") and 37% as moderate (medium "pain, suffering or distress") (European Commission 2023: 21-22, 34). It is in the interests of the animals that are experimented on to avoid this kind of pain and suffering.

The argument that animals have an interest in not being killed is more difficult to prove because many animals lack the capacity for foresight. As those animals cannot plan for the future they do not have preferences for their future life meaning that a painless killing could be ethical (Singer 2011: 80). Painless killing is a challenge in itself as, for example, during the butchering of cattle a failure rate of the first shot of 1.4% was observed (Gregory 2008: 3). Singer (2011: 104) suggests a spectrum where a higher capacity for forethought leads to a more valuable interest in staying alive.

There are varying degrees of evidence for future oriented thoughts in animals. Pigs, for example, consider their past experience of competition for food by anticipating and changing their behavior accordingly in order to maximize their food intake (Held et al. 2002: 164-165). Another case of future oriented thought is that of a chimpanzee in a zoo that gathers and breaks off stones while the zoo is closed. His stashed stones are later used as projectiles against zoo visitors (Osvath 2009: 191). In another experiment scrub jays, a kind of bird, are studied. Correia et al. (2007: 859) show that scrub jays are able to anticipate different kinds of feed alternations and store their preferred feed option. The researchers say that the birds are able to predict that their future food preference will be different from their current food preference (Correia et al. 2007: 859). All these examples

show that there are interests of animals that have the capacity for forethought that need be taken into account in the equal consideration of interests (Singer 2011: 104).

However, there is a subset of animals that does not possess the ability for future oriented thoughts and preferences. An indirect interest in not killing them can be derived: The killing of an animal can cause suffering in their peers (Singer 2011: 105). Singer (2011: 111-112) argues that according to preference utilitarianism a being without future oriented thoughts may be killed without violating its preferences if the killing is done "instantly and painlessly".

3.1.3 Interests of consumers

Consumers of animal products that live in modern societies where the access to fruits and vegetables is plentiful do not have an existential interest in consuming animal products. Their interest in consuming animal products stems from luxury rather than necessity (Singer 2011: 54). The interest in the enjoyment of eating animal products would be violated by a mandatory vegan lifestyle. However, the pleasure generated from eating vegan food does not drop to zero. Rather there is a difference between the enjoyment of vegan food by an avid meat eater and a convinced vegan (Abel et al. 2021: 179-180). A survey among German organic food consumers shows that vegans assess the taste of plant-based food more favorable than omnivores. On a 7-point scale from tasteless to tasty, vegans judged vegan food with a mean of 5.83 while omnivores awarded the mean value of 3.49 (Kilian and Hamm 2021: 8). This difference in enjoyment constitutes the interest of omnivores in not adhering to a vegan diet.

A study from Serbia shows that some omnivores associate a vegan diet with poor health (Branković and Budžak 2024: 95-96). As such, consumers of animal products could have an interest against a vegan lifestyle through their interest in a long and healthy life. But an umbrella review by Capodici et al. (2024: 16) on health-related impacts of plant-based diets reveals that plant-based diets are associated with a decreased "risk of ischemic heart disease, gastrointestinal and prostate cancer, as well as related mortality". Even among the oftentimes shunned "ultra-processed foods", plant-based processed foods exhibit no correlation with increased multimorbidity in contrast with animal-based processed products which are associated with several diseases according to Cordova et al. (2023: 9). It is important to add that a scoping review shows the necessity of vitamin B₁₂ supplementation for vegans as vitamin B₁₂ availability is low in vegan food sources (Fernandes et al. 2024: 16). Similarly potential micronutrient deficiencies of vitamin B₂, D, niacin, iodine, iron and calcium need to be counteracted if necessary (Bakaloudi et al. 2021: 3519). Contrary to misconceptions, consumers have an interest in a vegan diet because of its positive health impacts as long as adequate micronutrient supplementation is guaranteed.

A special health interest should be awarded to pregnant people during pregnancy and breastfeeding as nutrient deficiencies during pregnancy and afterwards pose severe health risks for the pregnant person and their child including neural tube defects, stunted fetal growth and anemia (Sebastiani et al. 2019: 4). A review of the current evidence by Sebastiani et al. (2019: 20-21) shows that these risks can be mitigated fully if the pregnant person is advised on nutrition and observed carefully by knowledgeable health actors. On a similar note, Kayode et al. (2022: 45) advise that children's vegan nutrient intake needs to be watched carefully and corresponding supplementation is necessary in order to prevent health complications. As shown, pregnant people and children have an interest against veganism due to health reasons if their health care system cannot adequately support their diet.

There exists another special interest of those consumers of animal products that are existentially dependent on animal products. For example, some communities in Mexico practice subsistence hunting. Those communities have an interest in not starving if veganism were to be demanded of them (Singer 2011: 54; Briceño-Méndez et al. 2021: 4-5).

3.1.4 Interests of farmers

More than a billion people are dependent on animal agriculture for their livelihoods in different degrees. A shift to a vegan agriculture affects the interests of farmers in agriculture in different ways (Eisen and Brown 2022: 12-13).

On the one hand, a vegan agriculture could negatively impact the businesses of farmers and consequently their workers. Newton and Blaustein-Rejto (2021: 7) interviewed US American farmers on possible impacts on their agricultural livelihood in response to the emergence of plant-based meat sources. Crop-growing farmers feared the expenses that are tied to the transition from feed crops to crops that are more in demand for humans. Those farmers also noted that because plant-based agriculture is more space efficient that they might lose revenue. Chicken and pig farmers are also concerned about the threats to their livelihoods because they cannot easily transition away from animal agriculture. Some of the interviewees also envisioned positive impacts, for example, less air and water pollution around their communities and the potential of double cropping with legumes which enhances revenue opportunities (Newton and Blaustein-Rejto 2021: 4-7).

On the other hand, climate change is negatively impacting the businesses of farmers in animal agriculture as well. The production of animal feed is impaired through water shortages and heat which also cause problems during raising of livestock. Metrological disasters will also impact transport infrastructure and agriculture in general (Godde et al. 2021: 4). This means that farmers and their workers have some interests in sustainable animal agriculture. At the same time, they have an interest in continuing the production of animal products for their livelihood.

3.1.5 Analysis

The following preference utilitarian analysis, of whether one can ethically consume animal products or not, is guided by the principle of equal consideration of interests by Singer (2011: 20) which mandates the consideration and weighing of every interest that is touched upon by an action. Those include the interests of present and future generations in a good and long life, the interest of animals in a long life without pain, the interest of consumers in pleasuring and healthy food and the interest of farmers in their livelihood. Special interests, for example, of children are considered at the end of the analysis.

Even excluding the interests of animals, it is generally unethical to consume animal products in currently common amounts because of the heavy weight one has to assign to the interests of the people of present and future generations whose lives will be impacted negatively in a substantive way if the current consumption of animal products is not restricted (Clark et al. 2020: 705; Romanello et al. 2023: 2). Farmers and their workers that are dependent on animal agriculture have an interest in curbing the effects of climate change as well because it threatens their livelihoods (Godde et al. 2021: 4). The interests of present and future generations and their own interest in fighting climate change negates their interest in continuing with animal agriculture in an unrestricted way. A sustainable animal agriculture would allow them to stay in business, albeit under severe transition challenges (Herrero et al. 2009: 118-119). The carbon budget that will be available to animal agriculture is heavily dependent on other sectors and on the amount of natural carbon sequestration (Lamboll et al. 2023: 1361). This means, excluding the interests of animals, one could ethically consume animal products but only if they were sustainably sourced. The pool of sustainable animal products will likely be very small because of the large amount of CO₂e emissions of animal agriculture that are not due to fossil fuel use but due to land use and the digestive processes of ruminants both of which cannot be easily decarbonized (Clark et al. 2020: 705).

One could argue that this argument is more political than ethical because of our negligible individual carbon footprint which is not causing a direct impact on someone's life. Singer (2011: 235) is of the opinion that our footprint nevertheless contributes to climate change and its consequences which violates the interests of millions. Regarding such "collective action problems", Kagan (2011: 114-115) supports the account of Singer by saying that even small "imperceptible" consequences harm others in tiny amounts. Through our small emission causing actions we are raising the likelihood that more animals are reared and slaughtered because we created bits of demand for it (Kagan 2011: 124). In preference utilitarian terms the argument goes as follows: We should not contribute even tiny

amounts to a higher likelihood that an interest is violated unless other interests outweigh it. Through buying animal products we are ever so slightly raising the chances of violating the interests of present and future generations. Only if we are sure that there is enough CO₂e left in the carbon budget, we could ethically consume animal products if the interests of animals were to be excluded.

For the sake of argument, I excluded the interests of animals in order to later compare the climate change argument with the deontological approach. The interests of animals should not be excluded from an ethical consideration as this would constitute speciesism, the arbitrary discrimination based on species, according to Singer (2011: 50-51). If one fairly considers the interests of animals to be free from suffering, one has to come to the conclusion that a vegan diet is ethically mandatory because the interests of animals outweigh the interest of humans in a pleasurable meal (Singer 2011: 56). As discussed in part "3.1.3 Interests of consumers", only a marginal amount of pleasure is lost after a shift to a vegan diet. Consumers even have an opposing interest in not consuming animal products as animal products are the cause of cardiovascular diseases and some types of cancer (Capodici et al. 2024: 16).

There is an exception to this argument if an animal is raised with the inclusion of a fair consideration of its interests. If it does not suffer during its raising, its products like milk could be ethically consumed. However, it cannot be ethically killed for its meat or hide, as I will show in the next paragraphs. Singer (2011: 56) considers it unlikely that those kinds of animal farming practices exist right now in industrialized animal agriculture which is why he advocates for a nearly vegan diet in industrialized societies.

Singer (2011: 119-120) reasons that it is ethically wrong to kill beings that have the capacity for future oriented interests which includes humans, many mammals and likely fish and birds. As the evidence points to a broader understanding of consciousness he suggests that one should err on the side of caution as long as there is evidence for future preferences in those animals. Some animals that lack the ability to plan for the future however could be ethically killed which leaves open a small subset of actions that cannot be considered vegan while still being ethically sound (Singer 2011: 119-120).

Combining these findings, I envision a hypothetical ethical animal agriculture which would include a symbiotic relationship between humans and animals. The interests of both would have to be considered fairly. The animal would not be subjected to the abuse or killing that is part of today's animal agriculture. The few animals that do not have future oriented thoughts could be killed for human consumption. This small antispeciesist scope of ethical animal agriculture is not similar to ours and likely not economical in a capitalist society (Singer 2011: 119-120).

The application of the principle of equal considerations of interest leads to similar conclusions in sectors where animals are used as well, for example, "fur trade, hunting in all its different forms, circuses, rodeos, zoos and the pet business". Wherever the interests of the affected animals outweigh the interests of other beings, they should be protected. There are exceptions to this general analysis. For example, the hunting of an animal that is living in an area of overpopulation could be ethically killed as its preferences of not starving could outweigh its preference of continuing to live. An even more ethical choice in this case would be the use of animal contraceptives or sterilization (Singer 2011: 58-59, 121).

The previous general argument is only valid for people in industrialized societies with no special interests (Singer 2011: 54). Those interests should be looked at on a case-by-case basis.

As previously shown, pregnant people and children and even some in the general population have an interest in being carefully monitored by health professionals who can ensure that they are supplied adequately with the necessary nutrients (Bakaloudi et al. 2021: 3519; Sebastiani et al. 2019: 20-21; Kayode et al. 2022: 45; Fernandes et al. 2024: 16). If a healthcare system is not able to provide those vulnerable groups with the necessary nutrients, they have a non-negligible interest in a healthy life which allows them to consider consuming non-lethal (e.g. milk, eggs) animal products and even meat in cases where their life is at stake. This reasoning is ethically sound according to Singer (2011: 122), as humans have an exceptionally high capability for future oriented thought and consciousness. Thus, in edge cases the interest to live of a human weighs more than the interest of an animal to live. Similarly, subsistence hunters that are existentially dependent on hunting and would otherwise starve can reasonably claim that their killing of animals is ethical (Singer 2011: 54, 122). To summarize, there are some special cases where the use of animal products is permissible under preference utilitarianism.

Experimentation on animals constitutes another special case where the interests of the affected need to be weighed carefully. Experimentation on animals inflicts severe damage to the bodies of animals (European Commission 2023: 21-22, 34). The suffering of animals, due to these kinds of experiments, needs to be weighed against the interests of those that benefit from the experiments. Justification for animal experiments seems impossible for experiments with small benefits like the testing of cosmetic products (Singer 2011: 56-57). Experiments that hypothetically save the lives of thousands of beings while sacrificing a few could be considered ethical even under preference utilitarianism. But Singer (2011: 57-58) argues that even in these cases speciesist bias would lead us to sacrifice animals rather than humans with irreversible brain damage, although many healthy animals likely have a higher interest in not feeling pain because their capacity of

feeling pain is intact while the brain damaged human's is not. Instead of using brain damaged humans or animals as test subjects, Singer (2011: 57-58) prefers to stop experiments on living beings and fund research that employs consenting adults or alternative methods. He adds that by comparing animals to some humans with mental disabilities he wants to lift the status of animals and humans rather than downgrading the value of some disabled people. All "sentient beings" with different capacities for suffering and forethought should inherit "basic rights" (Singer 2011: 67).

In the last paragraphs my analysis of the competing interests regarding the consumption of animal products shows that while it is not ethically necessary to follow veganism in all cases it is certainly necessary to take an antispeciesist stance in all cases according to preference utilitarianism (Singer 2011: 50, 56-58). The antispeciesist stance frequently leads to veganism but is at the same time often dependent on certain structural conditions. An antispeciesist, and especially a vegan life, is more easily realizable if a government is supportive of these individual ethics, for example, through help with transitioning for farmers and an adequate health care system. An in-depth discussion of these political arguments is supplied in chapter "4 From individual ethics to policy".

3.2 Kantian approach

Before introducing Kant's ethical theory, I want to make it transparent that even though his ethics are supposed to be universal (Henning 2023: 15-16), the philosopher's anthropology is full of white supremacist, sexist, antiziganistic and antisemitic ideas (Eze 1995: 232; Kleingeld 2019: 5; Hund 2011: 85-86). According to Bernasconi (2002: 146-147), Kant is the originator of the first questionably scientific theory of race. For example, Kant (1923: 316) wrote as translated by Faull and Eze (1997: 63): "Humanity is at its greatest perfection in the race of the whites. The yellow Indians do have a meagre talent. The Negroes are far below them and at the lowest point are a part of the American peoples." I want to emphasize that by citing Kant and his ethical theory, I do not condone his racism and other discriminatory practices. Using the concept of "Black Radical Kantianism" by Mills (2018: 22-23), I am conscious of my internalized racism and Kant's explicit racism in order to apply his ethics truly universally.

Kant's ethics are meant to be universal and valid for all rational beings at every point in time which is why Kant was searching for a moral law that was universal "a priori" meaning without empirical knowledge. His derivation of this moral law starts with three basic premises (Henning 2023: 15-17).

Firstly, Kant (1911: 393) postulates that one can value a good will as good without any restrictions. Many other assets may seem good at first sight but can always turn bad or be harmful. His examples include reason, humor, power and courage which may be only

good in a moral sense if the underlying will is good as well. Contrary to the aforementioned consequentialist ethics, a good will is considered to be good even if its effects are not good, for example, if one is willing but not capable to enact one's good will (Kant 1911: 393-394).

Secondly, Kant (1911: 397) argues that having a good will entails acting out of a certain duty. What this duty contains is not clear right away. The philosopher provides the example of a merchant who sets his prices similarly for everyone. This is not dutiful behavior as the consequence that all customers are treated equally might be good but at the same time the merchant's will is turned towards his business. He treats everyone equally in order to keep his customers and not out of a good will and thus not out of a duty. His next example outlines a good friend who treats others well out of his inclination to spread joy. This friend might act dutifully but is not acting out of a duty but rather out of his inclination. Only the one that acts not out of his inclinations but does the right thing out of a duty is to be morally commended (Kant 1911: 397-398).

The third step in his derivation includes understanding what acting out of duty means and what duties are comprised of. Kant (1911: 399) says that an action out of a duty is not morally valuable because of its intentions but because of the maxim which underlies the action. Maxims are intentions of what to do and why to do something. They are created and then decided on before an action (Henning 2023: 29). Thus, maxims are the basis of all actions (Kant 1914: 24). This begs the question of how to know whether one's maxim is suitable for an action out of duty. Kant (1911: 400) asserts that maxims are the subjective principle of the will. The objective principle, which is supposed to guide all rational beings, is derived a priori and is claimed to be the practical law. Acting out of duty is to act in accordance with this moral law. A will is good when it is stripped of all inclinations. What remains is, on the objective side the law and on the subjective side the respect for the law. This results in the third premise: I shall only act as if I can will that my maxim becomes universal law. This means that I act out of a duty if I can will that my maxim will be universalized and be applied to everyone (Kant 1911: 400-402).

Kant then introduces imperatives which are practical guidelines for what one should do. Hypothetical imperatives are dependent on the goals of the actor while categorical imperatives are valid universally independent of the actor's goals which means that they are imperatives of ethicality, only bound by their form and their principle (Kant 1911: 413-414, 417; Henning 2023: 40-41). Similarly to a good will the categorical imperative is not dependent on any conditions like circumstances which makes it universal law. This is why the categorical imperative, as a universal law, can only demand that from us which is suitable to be universal law (Kant 1911: 420-421; Henning 2023: 42-43). In combination with the knowledge about maxims, Kant (1911: 420-421) concludes that the categorical imperative must have the following content: Only act in accordance with the maxim which you can will to be a universal law.

The philosopher argues that there are two conditions which would preclude that one can will one's maxim to be universal law: First a logical contradiction and alternatively a will contradiction (Kant 1911: 424). Kant (1911: 422) provides cases regarding the two contradictions. For example, concerning the logical contradiction, a person is in a hardship and wants to borrow money without intending to pay it back. The person's maxim cannot be willed to be universal law as one could never borrow any money if everyone intends to not pay it back. The end of borrowing is logically impossible if the person's maxim includes the intention to not pay it back (Kant 1911: 422).

Another example concerns itself with the will contradiction, a person decides that they do not want to help others in need in any case. One can universalize this maxim and the world could logically continue to exist, but Kant (1911: 423) nevertheless reasons that one cannot will this maxim to be universal law because a good will that has ends or goals might be in need of assistance to reach its ends. To forgo the possible assistance cannot be willed as it would forgo the end as well (Kant 1911: 423; Henning 2023: 55). This is valid because if one considers a will and its ends one has to consider all of the necessary conditions as well. In other words, there are interests of the will that are fundamental to it, for example, not restricting one's choice of ends which results in a will contradiction (Kant 1911: 417; Henning 2023: 56). To summarize, Kant wants us to universalize our maxims in order to prevent us from raising ourselves above other persons through finding exceptions to the universalization. One has the duty to only do that which one can want everybody else doing it (Kant 1911: 424).

Which is why the second instance of the categorical imperative says to only use humanity, in yourself and other persons, as an end never only as a means. Humanity, in this case, represents rational beings that have the capacity to set ends (Kant 1914: 392; Kant 1911: 429, 436). Usually, we understand ends as goals. These restrict and define our future actions towards our goals. According to Henning (2023: 84-86), human beings are ends as well because they restrict our actions when we act for the sake of someone. The means to an end instance follows from the categorical imperative described above. One should not restrict the capacity of others to set ends for one's own gain. This would constitute using this capacity of others as means. We cannot universalize maxims that use others solely as means as we would raise ourselves above other persons. If everyone would use each other as means most ends could not be fulfilled resulting in logical or will contradictions (Kant 1911: 424, 438; Henning 2023: 87-88).

3.2.1 Duties towards present and future generations

The following part considers whether one owes any duties to themselves and the people of present and future generations in connection with the consumption of animal products. As discussed, the starting point is the categorical imperative and the universalization of our maxims (Kant 1911: 420-421). For example, a corresponding maxim may be: I want to consume animal products for nutrition and for my enjoyment. I argue that this maxim is not universalizable. As presented in part "2.1 Animal agriculture and climate change", the regular consumption of animal products is the cause for major CO₂e emissions and the following climate impacts (Eisen and Brown 2022: 4-6; Romanello et al. 2023: 1-2). This results in a logical contradiction, a will contradiction and a violation of the second categorical imperative which forbids anyone from using another only as a means (Kant 1911: 438; Henning 2023: 87-88).

A survey and life cycle assessment by Scarborough et al. (2023: 569) shows that on average a medium meat eater from the United Kingdom emits between 2.3 t and 2.6 t of CO₂e per year through their diet alone. Depending on the scenario, a lower bound scenario with a 1.5°C target and an upper bound scenario with a 2°C target including CCS, the per capita emissions targets for 2030 are set at 3.2-2.5 t of CO₂e/year, for 2040 at 2.2-1.4 t of CO₂e/year and for 2050 at 1.5-0.7 t CO₂e/year. This means that, in 2040 at the latest, a medium UK meat eater emits more CO₂e than the 1.5°C and 2°C targets permit (Akenji et al. 2021: 37, 41-42). The supply chains of animal products are threatened by climate change through droughts, heat waves and many other factors that influence feed production and the welfare of animals and workers (Godde et al. 2021: 12). Thus, a logical contradiction exists in the universalization of the maxim. One cannot will for everyone to continue consuming animal products at contemporary levels as it would threaten the end of consuming animals itself. Hollnaicher (2020: 685-686) argues analogously in regard to emission intensive activities, like driving cars and flying to a vacation destination.

A will contradiction like in the aforementioned assistance scenario is apparent as well. One cannot will anything that if universalized would restrict or damage the capacities to choose one's ends or reach one's ends (Kant 1911: 417, 423-424; Henning 2023: 56). The universalized maxim of animal consumption would result in severe restrictions to one's ends through physical and psychological damages or even deaths (Bressler 2021: 2; Lawrance et al. 2022: 451-453; Romanello et al. 2023: 2).

On a similar note, Ferretti (2023: 176-177) argues it is necessary to recognize the freedom that is essential to being a "moral agent". If we would not value the freedom of the people of present and future generations, we would violate their autonomy to establish ends for themselves. While we do not know which ends future generations will strive towards, Ferretti (2023: 176-177) suggests that a fair distribution of freedom in the future is a

necessary condition for being able to have "moral agency". This freedom argument is not only related to the will contradiction but also to the second categorical imperative. One should not use rational beings only as means to an end. If one consumes animal products in an unsustainable way, one diminishes the capacity of others to set their own ends in the future because of the climate impacts on their freedom. One has to respect the humanity, the rationality and end setting capability of humans (Kant 1911: 429, 438; Henning 2023: 87-88)

There is however a maxim that seems to be universalizable: I want to consume animal products for nutrition and for my enjoyment in a manner that is sustainable. The global vegetation absorbs 112-169 Gt of CO₂e/year which could be optimized through better land management, especially considering that a vegan agriculture would allow for more land to be restored (Hayek et al. 2021: 21; Sha et al. 2022: 2, 5). Additionally, the oceans act as carbon sinks with an absorption of 3 Gt CO₂e per year (Gruber et al. 2023: 120). Depending on the carbon concentration in the atmosphere and the status of the decarbonization in other sectors like electricity generation there will remain a sustainable CO₂e-budget for animal product consumption allowing for the maxim to be universalized. From an intergenerational viewpoint, Kantian individual ethics allow for the consumption of a sustainable amount of animal products.

3.2.2 Animal ethics

The protection of the categorical imperative to not be used as only means to an end is only afforded to rational beings (Kant 1912: 114). Animals are seen by Kant (1905: 330-331) not as machines but as life forms as they exhibit free movement guided by their need for food. That means that some kind of reason which they display through instincts is attributed to animals. Rationality, free will and morality on the other hand are uniquely human attributes (Kant 1907: 70-71). Thus, animals lack self-consciousness and rationality in contrast to humans which is why Kant (1907: 127) argues that humans should be considered to be above all non-rational beings.

Consequently, animals may be used as means to an end which Kant (1912: 114) underscores with an example: A human says to a sheep that he may use its fur as clothing because he has the right to nature's gifts. This right raises humans above other beings. Humans may use animals as means and instruments for their own goals. By way of contrast, Kant stresses that the human cannot say this to any other human. They are to be seen as equal participants in nature's gifts (Kant 1912: 114).

Nevertheless, Kant (1914: 443) does apply some protections towards animals. He condones the killing of animals, as well as the use of animals for work like agricultural work or drawing carriages. At the same time, the philosopher does not allow for the unnecessary violent and cruel treatment of animals, not because of a moral duty towards them but because of a duty of humans towards themselves. The brutal treatment of animals would lead to less compassion towards the animals which in turn would decrease the natural human facilities of morality (Kant 1914: 443). Kant seems to contradict himself here as Rojas (2015: 2294) notes. Kant's argument implies some kind of indirect duty towards animals through a duty towards oneself. As described, one does not have any duties towards animals, so it remains unclear how one's natural moral capacities would weaken due to cruel behavior towards animals as this cruel behavior is not immoral (Rojas 2015: 2294).

Broadie and Pybus (1974: 375-377) acknowledge the same contradiction. They note that the philosopher clearly does not see animals as persons or rational beings which consequently indicates that animals may be used as means to an end. While we may owe indirect duties to non-rational beings they can only stem from direct duties towards oneself or other humans. The issue with Kant relying on human psychology in order to forbid the cruel treatment of animals is that he does not justify his argument trough his moral laws but through the implication that the cruel treatment might negatively affect the ability to assess one's duties towards other humans (Broadie and Pybus 1974: 375-382). Although this might be seen as an indirect duty, it is not a moral duty in the Kantian sense, according to Broadie and Pybus (1974: 382), as it is universalizable thus not violating the categorical imperative. If the maxim to not treat animals cruelly, because this could lead to using rational beings as means, were to be universalized, this would lead to the conclusion that one should not use non-rational beings as means. This contradicts other Kantian postulations where he explicitly allows for animals to be used as means (Broadie and Pybus 1974: 382-383; Kant 1912: 114).

In a response to the argument of Broadie and Pybus (1974), Regan (1976: 471-472) counters that Kant's perspective on animals is not contradictory. Cruelly treating animals and using animals as means are not identical concepts. One can use animals as means while not cruelly treating them. Which is why the claim of Broadie and Pybus (1974: 382-383) that the generalization of the indirect duties towards animals leads to the prohibition of using animals as means may be wrong. Indeed, only treating animals cruelly will lead to the deterioration of one's moral capacities which is why Kant insists only on the indirect duty towards animals because it could lead to other persons' rationality being violated (Regan 1976: 471-472).

In the end, whether one is in favor of the strict Kantian interpretation or of the one where Kant contradicts himself makes no meaningful difference regarding my moral claim. The strict interpretation results in the conclusion that one may use animals as means, and that there are no duties towards animals not even regarding cruel treatment (Kant 1907: 127). The Kantian contradiction would still allow for animals to be used as means while one should not treat animals cruelly without necessity (Kant 1914: 443). In animal agriculture animals are regularly treated as means to an end for food production which would be allowed under both interpretations. The regular cruel treatment of animals in animal agriculture which is described in chapter "2.2 Evidence of harm towards animals in industrialized agriculture" would have to be restricted to a necessary minimum, according to Kant's possibly contradictory theory of an indirect duty towards animals (Regan 1976: 472). Consequently, my initial moral claim that an individual or even the state should protect animal rights and enact veganism cannot be upheld with Kantian ethics on animals, although Kant could be in favor of laws against animal abuse. Modern Kantian interpretations, for example by Korsgaard (2018) or Müller (2022), come to different conclusions regarding Kantian animal ethics and are grounds for further research perspectives in works of larger scope.

4 From individual ethics to policy

In this chapter utilitarian and Kantian ethics are applied to political philosophy. My original hypothesis is revised in three different ways according to the findings, and policy implications are derived from the altered hypotheses.

4.1 Preference utilitarian political philosophy

Utilitarianism is not only an ethical philosophy for individuals but rather had its origins in a political philosophy as a guideline for governments. The basic principle by Bentham (1988: 3) that "it is the greatest happiness of the greatest number that is the measure of right and wrong" laid the groundwork for his political philosophy in which lawmakers should judge their legislation by maximizing the utility of a law. A law ought to maximize the happiness of the constituents (Bentham 1988: 3, 25-26; Martin 1997: 276).

The measurement of utility in classical utilitarianism is happiness. Applied to preference utilitarianism, lawmakers are obliged to maximize the satisfaction of the preferences of those that are affected by a law. A law is right if it considers the interests of all affected beings (Singer 2011: 2-3, 20, 48; Berggren 1999: 347). This means that my prior analysis of the equal consideration of interests regarding animal products needs to be applied to legislation. Ethically thinking lawmakers should devise a law in which the interests of all affected are considered fairly.

Such an equal consideration of interests should result in a law where the heavy weighing interests of the people of present and future generations and the heavy weighing interests of animals are specially protected. As discussed in part "3.1.5 Analysis", this produces legislation which incorporates veganism for the general public and as a minimum antispeciesism in order to recognize the special interests of, for example, subsistence hunters and other vulnerable groups. I argue that the rights of farmers should also not be

neglected. The related policy implications are presented in "4.3 Policy implications". My initial hypothesis is altered in order to include the preference utilitarian findings which allow some non-vegan but always antispeciesist conduct:

Moral claims: The state should fairly consider the interests of present and future generations and the interests of animals.

Empirical claims: Animal agriculture is a major contributor to climate change and its corresponding effects and violates the wellbeing of animals regularly.

Conclusion: The state should enforce antispeciesism by law.

4.2 Kantian political philosophy

Although Kant (1914: 203-372) does put forward a political and legal theory in "Die Metaphysik der Sitten" and in other writings, the question whether his moral law, the categorical imperative, can be applied to his theory of law is controversial (Horn 2014: 9). The philosopher's general principle of law says that an action is right if it or its maxim may exist side by side with the freedom of everyone in conformity with a universal law which could imply that there is a connection between the categorical imperative and his legal theory (Kant 1914: 230). Still, two major scientific factions emerge in the debate. The proponents of the dependence thesis argue that the law can be inferred from the categorical imperative while the proponents of the independence or separation thesis argue that the categorical imperative and the law are two kinds of normative phenomena (Horn 2014: 9). Because a nuanced discussion of the debate would warrant another bachelor thesis, I outline two stances on opposite sides of the debate spectrum in order to showcase the implications for my original hypothesis.

4.2.1 Separation thesis

According to Brown (1962: 33), Kant is unsuccessful in applying his moral law, the categorical imperative, to law in a legal sense. While Kant published numerous arguments on political topics, they seem to be separate from his ethical theory (Brown 1962: 33). Brown (1962: 33) even claims that in spite of Kant's numerous publications on political topics he seems to have no philosophy of law at all because of his failure to connect the moral law to a legal philosophy. What the philosopher's theory of law is missing, is guidance on how to apply the categorical imperative to "positive law" (Brown 1962: 36).

Brown (1962: 36) cites several examples demonstrating that while Kant proposes various principles regarding law they do not correspond to the categorical imperative. One of them is the justification of the law of exact retaliation by Kant (1914: 331). The philosopher initiates his argument by stating that penal law is the categorical imperative. One should not penalize a criminal for the criminal's own good or for the good of society as this would

constitute a use of someone solely as a means which is immoral, according to the second instance of the categorical imperative (Kant 1911: 429; Kant 1914: 331). But then Kant (1914: 332) argues that the measure for just penalization for crimes is the principle of equality: You steal from someone, you steal from yourself; you hit someone, you hit yourself; you kill someone, you kill yourself. This principle is supposed to explain why the law of exact retaliation is just.

Even though Kant does not explicitly claim the following, Brown (1962: 36-38) is of the opinion that the principle of equality is related to the first instance of the categorical imperative that one should only act on a maxim that one can will to be a universal law (Kant 1911: 420-421). If you kill someone you would allow others to kill you through the universalization of your maxim. One cannot will such a maxim to be universalized, as discussed, so the universalization of my killing maxim is not rational. Thus Brown (1962: 36-38) asserts that Kant fails to prove that the law of exact retaliation follows from the categorical imperative. Brown (1962: 38-47) continues his argument by providing several more examples of the disconnect between Kant's opinions on political topics and his moral philosophy and concludes by saying that Kant has no philosophy of law as his principles might provide certain ideals like freedom and peace but lack guidelines on the moral justification of laws.

If one accepts the separation thesis, Kantian ethics cannot be applied to Kantian political philosophy. Kant (1997: 696) wrote about a league of nations including a senate with representatives debating about conflicts between the nations, and consequently looking at Kant's political philosophy concerning intergenerational justice and climate politics as a separate matter is an interesting research avenue, but my initial goal is to apply individual ethics to political philosophy and in turn to policy.

My hypothesis needs to be revised on the basis of the separation thesis and prior findings. The categorical imperative mandates that only a sustainable consumption of animal products is ethical. Additionally, as discussed, Kantian individual ethics do not allow for the protection of animals especially considering the strict interpretation that allows for any treatment of animals due to their lack of rationality (Kant 1912: 114). The aforementioned Kantian contradictory interpretation enacts mild protections regarding undue violent treatment of animals (Kant 1914: 443) and is reflected in brackets:

Moral claims: Individuals should not use others solely as means (and should not treat animals unnecessarily brutal).

Empirical claims: Animal agriculture is a major contributor to climate change and its corresponding effects (and violates the wellbeing of animals regularly).

Conclusion: Individuals should only consume animal products in a sustainable amount (and only products that were sourced without unnecessary harm towards animals).

4.2.2 Dependence thesis

While there are several scholars who are in favor of a weak coupling between Kantian ethics and his legal theory, Seel (2009: 73) prefers a "strong dependence" representing the opposite of the debate spectrum. He wants to prove that Kant's derivation of the general principle of law, the Universal Law of Right, is dependent on the categorical imperative (Seel 2009: 76; Kant 1914: 231). Seel (2009: 71) translates the Universal Law of Right as follows: "So act externally that the free use of your choice can coexist with the freedom of everyone in accordance with a universal law" (Kant 1914: 231). As described beforehand, the categorical imperative imposes that one's maxim needs to be universalizable in order for an action to be moral. Consequently, Seel (2009: 76-77) validates the universalizability of the following maxim that is derived from the Law of Right: "I will always act externally in such a way that my freedom is limited to the domain that can coexist with every one's equally great freedom according to a universal law". As he finds no logical or will contradictions the maxim that was derived from the Law of Right is moral according to the categorical imperative. He concludes that rational beings have a right to freedom as long as it can coexist with the freedom of others under a universal law (Seel 2009: 77, 90).

Indeed, Kant (1914: 237) says that freedom that is compatible with the freedom of others is a fundamental right to humanity. If one follows the dependence thesis, this right is consistent with the categorical imperative and is derived from it. One has to have this right in order to be able to act autonomously without being used as only a means. The end setting capability of rational beings can only be respected if rational beings have a right to freedom (Kersting 1984: 93-94). A kind of reciprocal freedom as the Law of Right suggests. One's own freedom must be able to coexist with the freedom of others (Kant 1914: 231), which is not possible in a world where climate change is not mitigated. Climate change impairs the freedom of present and future generations through its consequences on global health and the economy (Rennert et al. 2022: 687-688; Lawrance et al. 2022: 451-453; Romanello et al. 2023: 2). Only effective climate change mitigation which the transformation of animal agriculture has to be a part of because of its incompatibility with the 2°C target can respect the Kantian right of freedom (Clark et al. 2020: 705; Kersting 1984: 93-94). Thus, in consideration of the dependence thesis my hypothesis needs to be revised as follows:

Moral claims: Present and future generations have a right to reciprocal freedom.

Empirical claims: Animal agriculture is a major contributor to climate change and its corresponding effects.

Conclusion: The state should restrict animal agriculture to a sustainable minimum.

4.3 Policy implications

At first glance Kantian and preference utilitarian political philosophy seem to not have much in common and certainly, if one is a proponent of the separation thesis, Kantian ethics cannot be the cause for policy changes but only changes in individual behavior (Brown 1962: 33). However, if one advocates for the dependence thesis, Kantian and preference utilitarian political philosophy do agree that agriculture has to transition towards a sustainable agriculture which largely depends on plant-based products. Kantian political philosophy bases this claim on freedom for moral agents that will be heavily restricted if animal agriculture continues its CO₂e emission as is (Clark et al. 2020: 705; Kersting 1984: 93-94). A preference utilitarian political philosophy approach reaches the same conclusion through the principle of equal consideration of interest which mandates legislators to acknowledge the interests of present and future generations which would be violated if the GHG emissions stay at current levels (Eisen and Brown 2022: 12-13; Berggren 1999: 347). As such, there are policy implications for a just transition towards a sustainable future in general and in particular a sustainable agriculture.

Additionally, preference utilitarian political philosophy demands antispeciesist legislation which protects animals and their rights which need be taken into account due to the principle of equal consideration of interests which is applicable to state actors (Singer 2011: 50-51; Berggren 1999: 347). This is by no means an exhaustive list but should give readers some policy ideas for future lawmaking.

4.3.1 Just transition towards sustainable agriculture

Because of the dependence of over a billion people on animal agriculture several policy changes are necessary to facilitate the transition towards sustainable partial or fully vegan agriculture (Eisen and Brown 2022: 12-13). Dorgbetor et al. (2022: 6-7), for example, suggest "early warning systems" in order to notice and contain plant diseases which could threaten the access to food and income for farmers and consumers. Farmers also need financing and knowledge in order to initiate their transition towards sustainable agriculture (Dorgbetor et al. 2022: 10-11). For example in interviews, farmers in North America wish for government programs that ease the transition towards a vegan agriculture through "debt forgiveness, compensating for losses incurred, and funding (re)training initiatives". They also advocate for government funding for research on the transition and for giving tax credits for restoring unused land in order to generate carbon sinks (Newton and Blaustein-Rejto 2021: 8).

An important area for research is the lack of manure-based fertilizer stemming from animal agriculture. An alternative could be "biocyclic-vegan" agriculture in which nutrients are introduced into the ground by plant-based compost. Another could be the combination of plant-based fertilizer and mineral fertilizer, as well as the introduction of fertilizer derived from human excrements which does pose health risks (Mann 2020: 126-127). An additional potential area for research is changing crop rotations in order to ensure that crops are high in certain nutrients for example calcium from which consumers would benefit (Krayer 2021: 50).

Many of these policy changes require international cooperation as national solo efforts would likely not shift supply and demand of animal products in significant amounts (Dorgbetor et al. 2022: 10). Similarly to the "Green Climate Fund", which raises capital from developed and developing states and redistributes the money to mitigation and adaption projects all over the world, an international fund would have to be implemented. This fund could financially support research, adaption and compensation regarding the transition towards sustainable agriculture (Manzanares 2017: 1-5).

Depending on their needs, some exceptions to a fully vegan agriculture would have to be made, for example, for subsistence hunters (Singer 2011: 54). Furthermore, regarding a partially or fully plant-based agriculture some vulnerable groups will need support for their nutritional requirements. This warrants education, research, training of health care professional and access to supplements (Kayode et al. 2022: 45; Bakaloudi et al. 2021: 3518; Sebastiani et al. 2019: 20-21; Kris-Etherton et al. 2014: 1162).

4.3.2 Animals rights

According to preference utilitarianism as a political philosophy, lawmakers need to protect the interests of animals similarly to the interests of humans due to the obligation to maximize the preferences of those that are affected by policy (Singer 2011: 50-51; Berggren 1999: 347). This could give rise to animal rights similar to human rights.

For example, Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 19-20) demand certain "inviolable" rights for animals. In preference utilitarian thought, the violation of rights is permissible after a fair consideration of interests (Singer 2011: 56). Nevertheless, Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 21) note that their account of animal rights is still interesting even for those utilitarians that do not endorse inviolable rights. These "Universal Basic Rights for Animals" include the "rights to life and liberty". This consequently outlaws hurting and slaughtering animals as well as treating animals as property, slaves or captives. As a consequence, a ban on animal agriculture, "hunting", keeping animals as pets and zoos could be enacted (Donaldson and Kymlicka 2011: 40, 49). Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 49) also argue for an end to animal experimentation. Animal experimentation could be permissible in

edge cases under preference utilitarianism, although Singer (2011: 57-58) favors the financing of alternative methods to animal experimentation.

Another policy option is the abolitionist stance which advocates for a cessation of using animals in any way (Francione 2008: 62-63). This however is not compatible with preference utilitarianism as Singer (2011: 56-58) condones the use of animals in some cases whenever the interests of others outweigh the interests of animals. In contrast to the abolitionist argument and more in line with preference utilitarianism is the proposition of Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 101) to grant domesticated animals citizenship. This means that domesticated animals ought to be included in our society, for example, through socialization and the admission to our communal spaces including a right to "freedom of movement". Animals as citizens would also have a right to health care and a right to political representation through intermediaries (Donaldson and Kymlicka 2011: 123, 126, 142, 153-154).

Even some form of the use of animal products could be permitted as long as the agency of the animal citizens is recognized appropriately. Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 135-136) provide the example of freely wandering domesticated sheep who cannot free themselves from their fur coat. Shearing their wool and using the wool afterwards for our own purposes could be acceptable as the animals are not exploited but rather freed from their coat in a mutually beneficial exchange. Additionally, wild animals could be understood as sovereign beings whose territory and livelihood should not be "colonized" or exploited (Donaldson and Kymlicka 2011: 135-136, 205).

This "Zoopolis", as Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 256) call it, is an example for a society and for policies that consider the interests of different beings fairly and as such are compatible policy options under preference utilitarianism (Singer 2011: 50-51; Berggren 1999: 347).

5 Conclusion

My argument whether veganism should be enacted by law starts off with proving my empirical claim that animal agriculture is responsible for major CO₂e emissions and the corresponding negative effects on the people of present and future generations and that animals are regularly suffering in current animal agriculture practices (Eisen and Brown 2022: 4-6; Romanello et al. 2023: 1-2; Hampton et al. 2021: 28).

Subsequently, I analyzed whether these current conditions are ethical on an individual level. The preference utilitarian approach shows that one has to consider the interests of all those that are affected by animal agriculture which results in the conclusion that with minor exceptions one is ethically obligated to become vegan. In the case of some special

interests, one is compelled to fairly consider the interests of animals in an antispeciesist way (Singer 2011: 50-51, 56-58).

The application of Kant's moral law, the categorical imperative, leads to the verdict that one has a duty towards present and future generations which means that, ethically, one can only consume a sustainable amount of animal products (Kant 1911: 424, 429). Animals are not protected by the categorical imperative, although some scholars argue for indirect duties towards animals. Those indirect duties protect animals from undue violence (Kant 1912: 114; Broadie and Pybus 1974: 375-377; Regan 1976: 471-472).

The application of these individual ethics to Kantian and preference utilitarian political philosophy demonstrates several differences and similarities. Followers of the Kantian separation thesis argue that Kantian individual ethics cannot be applied to Kantian political philosophy, ending the argument towards veganism by law (Brown 1962: 33). However, proponents of the Kantian dependence thesis and preference utilitarian political philosophy find commonality in the obligation to respect the interests of present and future generations (Seel 2009: 77; Kersting 1984: 93-94; Singer 2011: 235). Policy makers ought to guard these interests by restricting animal agriculture to a small and sustainable amount.

A just transition towards a plant-based agriculture incorporates policy options, like subsidies for transitioning farmers and funding of research regarding, for example, sustainable fertilizer and crop rotations (Newton and Blaustein-Rejto 2021: 8; Mann 2020: 126-127; Krayer 2021: 50). International cooperation towards the just transition will be necessary as well (Dorgbetor et al. 2022: 10). Special interests of, for example, subsistence hunters and pregnant people should be recognized (Singer 2011: 54; Sebastiani et al. 2019: 20-21).

Preference utilitarian political philosophy demands not only sustainable policies but also antispeciesist policies. Although antispeciesism is closely related to veganism, some animal use continues to be permitted contrary to veganism (Singer 2011: 50-51, 56-58). Policy realizations could include giving animals certain rights, like the "rights to life and liberty" (Donaldson and Kymlicka 2011: 40). Additionally, Donaldson and Kymlicka (2011: 256) propose awarding animals citizenship in a "Zoopolis" which would further protect the interests of animals (Donaldson and Kymlicka 2011: 101).

To summarize, Kantian and preference utilitarian ethics and political philosophy demand a sustainable agricultural transition. Preference utilitarianism also requires enacting antispeciesism by law.

14596 words

Publication bibliography

Abel, William; Kahn, Elizabeth; Parr, Tom; Walton, Andrew (2021): Introducing political philosophy. A policy-driven approach. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.

Akenji, Lewis; Bengtsson, Magnus; Toivio, Viivi; Lettenmeier, Michael; Fawcett, Tina; Parag, Yael et al. (2021): 1.5-Degree Lifestyles: Towards A Fair Consumption Space for All. Hot or Cool Institute. Berlin, Germany. Available online at https://hotorcool.org/1-5degree-lifestyles-report/, checked on 03.05.2024.

Bakaloudi, Dimitra Rafailia; Halloran, Afton; Rippin, Holly L.; Oikonomidou, Artemis Christina; Dardavesis, Theodoros I.; Williams, Julianne et al. (2021): Intake and adequacy of the vegan diet. A systematic review of the evidence. In *Clinical nutrition* 40 (5), pp. 3503-3521. DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.11.035.

Barr, Stuart; Laming, Peter R.; Dick, Jaimie T.A.; Elwood, Robert W. (2008): Nociception or pain in a decapod crustacean? In *Animal Behaviour* 75 (3), pp. 745-751. DOI: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.07.004.

Bell, Derek (2011): Does anthropogenic climate change violate human rights? In *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy* 14 (2), pp. 99-124. DOI: 10.1080/13698230.2011.529703.

Bentham, Jeremy (1988): A Fragment on Government. Edited by James H. Burns, Herbert L. A. Hart. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.

Berggren, Niclas (1999): A Preference-Utilitarian Foundation for the Generality Principle. In *Constitutional Political Economy* 10, pp. 339-353. DOI: 10.1023/A:1009070916284.

Bergqvist, Jenny; Gunnarsson, Stefan (2013): Finfish Aquaculture: Animal Welfare, the Environment, and Ethical Implications. In *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Eth-ics* 26, pp. 75-99. DOI: 10.1007/s10806-011-9346-y.

Bernasconi, Robert (2002): Kant as an Unfamiliar Source of Racism. In Julie K. Ward, Tommy L. Lott (Eds.): Philosophers on race. Critical essays. Oxford, United Kingdom: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 145-166.

Bourget, David; Chalmers, David (2020): Survey Results. 2020 PhilPapers Survey. Available online at https://survey2020.philpeople.org/survey/results/all?target_group=&aos=26, checked on 03.05.2024.

Branković, Marija; Budžak, Anastasija (2024): The healthy, yet unhealthy choice: stereotypes about vegetarians and vegans in a meat-eating culture. In *Primenjena psihologija* 17 (1), pp. 81–108. DOI: 10.19090/pp.v17i1.2479. Bressler, R. Daniel (2021): The mortality cost of carbon. In *Nature communications* 12, Article 4467. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-24487-w.

Briceño-Méndez, Marcos; Contreras-Perera, Yamili; Montiel, Salvador (2021): Subsistence Hunting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Case of the White-Tailed Deer (Odocoileus virginianus) in Rural Communities of Calakmul, Campeche, Mexico. In *Tropical Conservation Science* 14, pp. 1-7. DOI: 10.1177/19400829211066713.

Broadie, Alexander; Pybus, Elizabeth M. (1974): Kant's Treatment of Animals. In *Philosophy* 49 (190), pp. 375-383. Available online at http://www.jstor.org/stable/3750236, checked on 29.05.2024.

Brown, Stuart M. (1962): Has Kant a Philosophy of Law? In *The Philosophical Review* 71 (1), pp. 33-48. DOI: 10.2307/2183679.

Capodici, Angelo; Mocciaro, Gabriele; Gori, Davide; Landry, Matthew J.; Masini, Alice; Sanmarchi, Francesco et al. (2024): Cardiovascular health and cancer risk associated with plant based diets: An umbrella review. In *PloS one* 19 (5), e0300711. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0300711.

Clark, Michael A.; Domingo, Nina G. G.; Colgan, Kimberly; Thakrar, Sumil K.; Tilman, David; Lynch, John et al. (2020): Global food system emissions could preclude achieving the 1.5° and 2°C climate change targets. In *Science* 370 (6517), pp. 705-708. DOI: 10.1126/science.aba7357.

Collins, T.; Stockman, C.; Hampton, J. O.; Barnes, A. (2020): Identifying animal welfare impacts of livestock air transport. In *Australian veterinary journal* 98 (5), pp. 197-199. DOI: 10.1111/avj.12927.

Cordova, Reynalda; Viallon, Vivian; Fontvieille, Emma; Peruchet-Noray, Laia; Jansana, Anna; Wagner, Karl-Heinz et al. (2023): Consumption of ultra-processed foods and risk of multimorbidity of cancer and cardiometabolic diseases: a multinational cohort study. In *The Lancet Regional Health - Europe* 35, Article 100771. DOI: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2023.100771.

Correia, Sérgio P. C.; Dickinson, Anthony; Clayton, Nicola S. (2007): Western scrub-jays anticipate future needs independently of their current motivational state. In *Current biology* 17 (10), pp. 856-861. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.03.063.

Ditlevsen, Peter; Ditlevsen, Susanne (2023): Warning of a forthcoming collapse of the Atlantic meridional overturning circulation. In *Nature communications* 14, Article 4254. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-023-39810-w.

Donaldson, Sue; Kymlicka, Will (2011): Zoopolis. A Political Theory of Animal Rights. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press. Dorgbetor, Isaac Korku; Ondrasek, Gabrijel; Kutnjak, Hrvoje; Mikuš, Ornella (2022): What If the World Went Vegan? A Review of the Impact on Natural Resources, Climate Change, and Economies. In *Agriculture* 12 (10), Article 1518. DOI: 10.3390/agricul-ture12101518.

Eisen, Michael B.; Brown, Patrick O. (2022): Rapid global phaseout of animal agriculture has the potential to stabilize greenhouse gas levels for 30 years and offset 68 percent of CO₂ emissions this century. In *PLOS Climate* 1 (2), e0000010. DOI: 10.1371/jour-nal.pclm.0000010.

Elwood, Robert W.; Appel, Mirjam (2009): Pain experience in hermit crabs? In *Animal Behaviour* 77 (5), pp. 1243-1246. DOI: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.01.028.

European Commission (2023): Summary Report on the statistics on the use of animals for scientific purposes in the Member States of the European Union and Norway in 2020. Brussels, Belgium. Available online at https://www.portalveterinaria.com/up-load/20230412090236CommissionStaffWorkingDocument-SummaryReportonthestatis-ticsontheuseofanimalsforscientificpurposesintheEUandNorway(2020)Part1.pdf, checked on 21.05.2024.

Eze, Emmanuel Chukwudi (1995): The Color of Reason: The Idea of "Race" in Kant's Anthropology. In Katherine M. Faull (Ed.): Anthropology and the German enlightenment. Perspectives on humanity. Lewisburg, USA: Bucknell University Press (Bucknell review, Volume 38, Number 2), pp. 200-241.

Faull, Katherine M.; Eze, Emmanuel Chukwudi (1997): From Physical Geography. In Emmanuel Chukwudi Eze (Ed.): Race and the enlightenment. A reader. Oxford, United Kingdom: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 58-64.

Fernandes, Sávio; Oliveira, Leandro; Pereira, Alda; Costa, Maria do Céu; Raposo, António; Saraiva, Ariana; Magalhães, Bruno (2024): Exploring Vitamin B12 Supplementation in the Vegan Population: A Scoping Review of the Evidence. In *Nutrients* 16 (10), Article 1442. DOI: 10.3390/nu16101442.

Ferretti, Maria Paola (2023): Present Risks, Future Lives: Social Freedom and Environmental Sustainability Policies. In *The Journal of Ethics* 27, pp. 173-190. DOI: 10.1007/s10892-022-09415-4.

Fisher, Andrew D.; Colditz, Ian G.; Lee, Caroline; Ferguson, Drewe M. (2009): The influence of land transport on animal welfare in extensive farming systems. In *Journal of Veterinary Behavior* 4 (4), pp. 157-162. DOI: 10.1016/j.jveb.2009.03.002.

Flower, Frances C.; Weary, Daniel M. (2001): Effects of early separation on the dairy cow and calf: 2. Separation at 1 day and 2 weeks after birth. In *Applied Animal Behav-iour Science* 70 (4), pp. 275-284. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)00164-7.

Francione, Gary L. (2008): Animals as Persons. Essays on the Abolition of Animal Exploitation. New York, USA: Columbia University Press.

Gibbons, Matilda; Crump, Andrew; Barrett, Meghan; Sarlak, Sajedeh; Birch, Jonathan; Chittka, Lars (2022): Can insects feel pain? A review of the neural and behavioural evidence. In Russell Jurenka (Ed.): Advances in Insect Physiology. San Diego, USA: Academic Press (Volume 63), pp. 155-229.

Godde, C. M.; Mason-D'Croz, D.; Mayberry, D. E.; Thornton, P. K.; Herrero, M. (2021): Impacts of climate change on the livestock food supply chain; a review of the evidence. In *Global food security* 28, Article 100488. DOI: 10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100488.

Gregory, Neville G. (2008): Animal welfare at markets and during transport and slaughter. In *Meat science* 80 (1), pp. 2-11. DOI: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2008.05.019.

Gruber, Nicolas; Bakker, Dorothee C. E.; DeVries, Tim; Gregor, Luke; Hauck, Judith; Landschützer, Peter et al. (2023): Trends and variability in the ocean carbon sink. In *Na-ture Reviews Earth & Environment* 4, pp. 119-134. DOI: 10.1038/s43017-022-00381-x.

Hampton, Jordan O.; Hyndman, Timothy H.; Allen, Benjamin L.; Fischer, Bob (2021): Animal Harms and Food Production: Informing Ethical Choices. In *Animals* 11, Article 1225. DOI: 10.3390/ani11051225.

Hayek, Matthew N.; Harwatt, Helen; Ripple, William J.; Mueller, Nathaniel D. (2021): The carbon opportunity cost of animal-sourced food production on land. In *Nature Sustainability* 4, pp. 21-24. DOI: 10.1038/s41893-020-00603-4.

Held, Suzanne; Mendl, Michael; Devereux, Claire; Byrne, Richard W. (2002): Foraging pigs alter their behaviour in response to exploitation. In *Animal Behaviour* 64 (2), pp. 157-165. DOI: 10.1006/anbe.2002.3044.

Henning, Tim (2023): Kants Ethik. Eine Einführung. Stuttgart, Germany: Reclam.

Herrero, Mario; Thornton, Philip K.; Gerber, Pierre; Reid, Robin S. (2009): Livestock, livelihoods and the environment: understanding the trade-offs. In *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 1 (2), pp. 111-120. DOI: 10.1016/j.cosust.2009.10.003.

Hollnaicher, Simon (2020): Eine Kantische Begründung individueller Klimapflichten. In *Grazer Philosophische Studien* 97 (4), pp. 679-692. DOI: 10.1163/18756735-00000117.

Horn, Christoph (2014): Nichtideale Normativität. Ein neuer Blick auf Kants politische Philosophie. Berlin, Germany: Suhrkamp.

Hund, Wulf D. (2011): It must come from Europe. The Racisms of Immanuel Kant. In Wulf D. Hund, Christian Koller, Moshe Zimmermann (Eds.): Racisms made in Germany. Münster, Germany: LIT Verlag (Racism Analysis - Series B: Yearbooks, 2), pp. 69-98.

Kagan, Shelly (2011): Do I Make a Difference? In *Philosophy and Public Affairs* 39 (2), pp. 105-141. Available online at https://www.jstor.org/stable/41301865, checked on 23.05.2024.

Kant, Immanuel (1905): Vorkritische Schriften II: 1757-1777. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 1, Band 2).

Kant, Immanuel (1907): Der Streit der Fakultäten. Anthropologie in pragmatischer Hinsicht. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 1, Band 7).

Kant, Immanuel (1911): Kritik der reinen Vernunft (1. Aufl.). Prolegomena. Grundlegung zur Metaphysik der Sitten. Metaphysische Anfangsgründe der Naturwissenschaft. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 1, Band 4).

Kant, Immanuel (1912): Abhandlungen nach 1781. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 1, Band 8).

Kant, Immanuel (1914): Die Religion innerhalb der Grenzen der bloßen Vernunft. Die Metaphysik der Sitten. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 1, Band 6).

Kant, Immanuel (1923): Logik, Physische Geographie, Pädagogik. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 1, Band 9).

Kant, Immanuel (1997): Vorlesungen über Anthropologie. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter (Gesammelte Schriften: Abtheilung 4, Band 25).

Karlen, Guillermo A.M.; Hemsworth, Paul H.; Gonyou, Harold W.; Fabrega, Emma; David Strom, A.; Smits, Robert J. (2007): The welfare of gestating sows in conventional stalls and large groups on deep litter. In *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 105 (1-3), pp. 87-101. DOI: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.05.014.

Kayode, Abolanle Kayode A. A.; Okumede, Grace F.; Alabi, Great O.; Onajobi, Funmilayo D. (2022): Is vegan diet advisable for children? In *Bioactive Compounds in Health and Disease* 5 (2), pp. 33-52. DOI: 10.31989/bchd.v5i2.892.

Kersting, Wolfgang (1984): Wohlgeordnete Freiheit. Immanuel Kants Rechts- und Staatsphilosophie. Berlin, Germany: De Gruyter (Quellen und Studien zur Philosophie, 20). Kilian, David; Hamm, Ulrich (2021): Perceptions of Vegan Food among Organic Food Consumers Following Different Diets. In *Sustainability* 13 (17), Article 9794. DOI: 10.3390/su13179794.

Kleingeld, Pauline (2019): On Dealing with Kant's Sexism and Racism. In *Society for German Idealism & Romanticism Review* 2 (2), pp. 3-22. Available online at https://hdl.handle.net/11370/b0404a45-51fd-4269-bbf4-2bc7df752d27, checked on 29.05.2024.

Korsgaard, Christine M. (2018): Fellow creatures. Our obligations to the other animals. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.

Kortleve, Anniek J.; Mogollón, José M.; Harwatt, Helen; Behrens, Paul (2024): Over 80% of the European Union's Common Agricultural Policy supports emissions-intensive animal products. In *Nature food* 5, pp. 288-292. DOI: 10.1038/s43016-024-00949-4.

Krayer, Patricia (2021): Modeling environmental and nutritional impacts of vegan agriculture. Master Thesis. Zürcher Hochschule für Angewandte Wissenschaften, Zurich, Switzerland.

Kris-Etherton, Penny M.; Akabas, Sharon R.; Bales, Connie W.; Bistrian, Bruce; Braun, Lynne; Edwards, Marilyn S. et al. (2014): The need to advance nutrition education in the training of health care professionals and recommended research to evaluate implementation and effectiveness. In *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 99 (5), pp. 1153-1166. DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.113.073502.

Lamboll, Robin D.; Nicholls, Zebedee R. J.; Smith, Christopher J.; Kikstra, Jarmo S.; Byers, Edward; Rogelj, Joeri (2023): Assessing the size and uncertainty of remaining carbon budgets. In *Nature Climate Change* 13, pp. 1360-1367. DOI: 10.1038/s41558-023-01848-5.

Lawrance, Emma L.; Thompson, Rhiannon; Le Newberry Vay, Jessica; Page, Lisa; Jennings, Neil (2022): The Impact of Climate Change on Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing: A Narrative Review of Current Evidence, and its Implications. In *International Review of Psychiatry* 34 (5), pp. 443-498. DOI: 10.1080/09540261.2022.2128725.

MacLeod, Michael J.; Hasan, Mohammad R.; Robb, David H. F.; Mamun-Ur-Rashid, Mohammad (2020): Quantifying greenhouse gas emissions from global aquaculture. In *Scientific reports* 10, Article 11679. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-68231-8.

Mancilla, Alejandra (2016): Veganism. In Paul B. Thompson, David M. Kaplan (Eds.): Encyclopedia of Food and Agricultural Ethics. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Netherlands, pp. 1-7. Mann, Stefan (2020): Could We Stop Killing?—Exploring a Post-Lethal Vegan or Vegetarian Agriculture. In *World* 1 (2), pp. 124-134. DOI: 10.3390/world1020010.

Manzanares, F. Javier (2017): The Green Climate Fund - a beacon for climate change action. In *Asian Journal of Sustainability and Social Responsibility* 2, pp. 1-5. DOI: 10.1186/s41180-016-0012-1.

Martin, Lawrence L. (1997): Jeremy Bentham: utilitarianism, public policy and the administrative state. In *Journal of Management History (Archive)* 3 (3), pp. 272-282. DOI: 10.1108/13552529710181622.

Mills, Charles W. (2018): Black Radical Kantianism. In *Res Philosophica* 95 (1), pp. 1-33. DOI: 10.11612/resphil.1622.

Müller, Nico Dario (2022): Kantianism for Animals. A Radical Kantian Animal Ethic. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature Switzerland.

Newton, Peter; Blaustein-Rejto, Daniel (2021): Social and Economic Opportunities and Challenges of Plant-Based and Cultured Meat for Rural Producers in the US. In *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 5, Article 624270. DOI: 10.3389/fsufs.2021.624270.

Osvath, Mathias (2009): Spontaneous planning for future stone throwing by a male chimpanzee. In *Current biology* 19 (5), pp. 190-191. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.01.010.

Parfit, Derek (1984): Reasons and Persons. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.

Parker, Robert W. R.; Blanchard, Julia L.; Gardner, Caleb; Green, Bridget S.; Hartmann, Klaas; Tyedmers, Peter H.; Watson, Reg A. (2018): Fuel use and greenhouse gas emissions of world fisheries. In *Nature Climate Change* 8 (4), pp. 333-337. DOI: 10.1038/s41558-018-0117-x.

Phillips, Clive J. C.; Santurtun, Eduardo (2013): The welfare of livestock transported by ship. In *Veterinary journal* 196 (3), pp. 309-314. DOI: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.01.007.

Regan, Tom (1976): Broadie and Pybus on Kant. In *Philosophy* 51 (198), pp. 471-472. DOI: 10.1017/S0031819100018842.

Rennert, Kevin; Errickson, Frank; Prest, Brian C.; Rennels, Lisa; Newell, Richard G.; Pizer, William et al. (2022): Comprehensive evidence implies a higher social cost of CO₂. In *Nature* 610, pp. 687-692. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-022-05224-9.

Ritchie, Paul D. L.; Smith, Greg S.; Davis, Katrina J.; Fezzi, Carlo; Halleck-Vega, Solmaria; Harper, Anna B. et al. (2020): Shifts in national land use and food production in Great Britain after a climate tipping point. In *Nature food* 1, pp. 76-83. DOI: 10.1038/s43016-019-0011-3. Rojas, Alexandro (2015): Tiere, grausame Behandlung der. In Marcus Willaschek, Jürgen Stolzenberg, Georg Mohr, Stefano Bacin (Eds.): Kant-Lexikon. Berlin, Germany, Boston, USA: De Gruyter, pp. 2294-2295.

Romanello, Marina; Di Napoli, Claudia; Green, Carole; Kennard, Harry; Lampard, Pete; Scamman, Daniel et al. (2023): The 2023 report of the Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: the imperative for a health-centred response in a world facing irreversible harms. In *The Lancet* 402 (10419), pp. 2346-2394. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)01859-7.

Roser, Max (2023): How many animals get slaughtered every day? Hundreds of millions of animals get killed for meat every day. Our World in Data. Available online at https://ourworldindata.org/how-many-animals-get-slaughtered-every-day, checked on 29.05.2024.

Scarborough, Peter; Clark, Michael; Cobiac, Linda; Papier, Keren; Knuppel, Anika; Lynch, John et al. (2023): Vegans, vegetarians, fish-eaters and meat-eaters in the UK show discrepant environmental impacts. In *Nature food* 4 (7), pp. 565-574. DOI: 10.1038/s43016-023-00795-w.

Sebastiani, Giorgia; Herranz Barbero, Ana; Borrás-Novell, Cristina; Alsina Casanova, Miguel; Aldecoa-Bilbao, Victoria; Andreu-Fernández, Vicente et al. (2019): The Effects of Vegetarian and Vegan Diet during Pregnancy on the Health of Mothers and Offspring. In *Nutrients* 11 (3), Article 557. DOI: 10.3390/nu11030557.

Seel, Gerhard (2009): How Does Kant Justify the Universal Objective Validity of the Law of Right? In *International Journal of Philosophical Studies* 17 (1), pp. 71-94. DOI: 10.1080/09672550802610974.

Sha, Zongyao; Bai, Yongfei; Li, Ruren; Lan, Hai; Zhang, Xueliang; Li, Jonathon et al. (2022): The global carbon sink potential of terrestrial vegetation can be increased substantially by optimal land management. In *Communications Earth & Environment* 3, Article 8. DOI: 10.1038/s43247-021-00333-1.

Shakur, Tupac Amaru (1998): Changes. In *Greatest Hits*. USA: Amaru Entertainment; Death Row Records; Interscope Records.

Singer, Peter (2011): Practical ethics. 3rd edition. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.

Stafford, Kevin J.; Mellor, David J. (2011): Addressing the pain associated with disbudding and dehorning in cattle. In *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 135 (3), pp. 226-231. DOI: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.10.018. Taylor, Katy; Alvarez, Laura Rego (2019): An Estimate of the Number of Animals Used for Scientific Purposes Worldwide in 2015. In *Alternatives to laboratory animals* 47 (5-6), pp. 196-213. DOI: 10.1177/0261192919899853.

Twine, Richard (2021): Emissions from Animal Agriculture—16.5% Is the New Minimum Figure. In *Sustainability* 13 (11), Article 6276. DOI: 10.3390/su13116276.

U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2020): Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2020-2025. Available online at https://www.dietaryguidelines.gov/resources/2020-2025-dietary-guidelines-online-materials, checked on 30.05.2024.

van Westen, René M.; Kliphuis, Michael; Dijkstra, Henk A. (2024): Physics-based early warning signal shows that AMOC is on tipping course. In *Science advances* 10 (6), eadk1189. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.adk1189.

Weeks, C. A.; Nicol, C. J. (2006): Behavioural needs, priorities and preferences of laying hens. In *World's poultry science journal* 62 (2), pp. 296-307. DOI: 10.1079/WPS200598.

Declaration of the examination performance

Name, First Name: Schickling, Niklas Matriculation number: [Redacted] Degree program: B.A. Political Science

The definition of plagiarism valid at FB03 is familiar and understandable to me:

"A paper submitted to the Department 03 is identified as plagiarized if it demonstrably uses another's intellectual property without labeling, thereby suggesting or claiming its authorship. Intellectual property may include entire texts, portions of texts, formulations, ideas, arguments, figures, tables, or data, and must be labeled as the intellectual property of the author. Insofar as submitted work intentionally omits the labeling, it provokes a misconception in those who evaluate the work and thus fulfills the offense of deception."

I hereby confirm that I have written the submitted paper with the title

Veganism by law

according to the rules of good scientific practice. All passages that have been taken verbatim or in spirit from publications or other external communications (including Internet sources and AI software) are marked as such. I am aware that the use of machine-generated texts does not guarantee the quality of content and text. I therefore certify that I have only used text-generating AI tools as an aid and that my creative influence predominates in this work. Furthermore, I assure that all text passages that were written with the help of AI-supported programs have been marked accordingly and provided with a reference to the AI-supported program used. I certify that I have not used any AI writing tools whose use the examiner has explicitly excluded in writing. I have written this thesis independently and without the use of sources and aids other than those indicated. I also affirm that this thesis (as well as no parts of it) has not yet been submitted as an examination in any other module or degree program.

I am aware that plagiarism will be documented in the examination office on the basis of the study and examination regulations and sanctioned by the examination board. In addition to failing the examination, these sanctions may have far-reaching consequences for me, up to and including exclusion from taking further examinations.

[Signature redacted]

¹ The department recommends the guidelines 'Citing from KI' of the University of Basel for this purpose (<u>Leitfaden KI De Eng .pdf (unibas.ch</u>)





Publiziert unter der Creative Commons-Lizenz Namensnennung (CC BY) 4.0 International. Published under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) 4.0 International License. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/